IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00361

WW, INC. d/b/a WEIGHT WATCHERS OF GREATER MISSISSIPPI and BJM INC. d/b/a WEIGHT WATCHERS OF SOUTHERN ALABAMA AND FLORIDA PANHANDLE PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

VS.

DIANNE BELK, ROBERT F. BELK, JR., RAINBOW CASINO-VICKSBURG PARTNERSHIP, L.P., BALLY TECHNOLOGIES, INC. and JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS (1) – (5).

DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS WW, INC. d/b/a WEIGHT WATCHERS OF GREATER MISSISSIPPI and BJM INC. d/b/a WEIGHT WATCHERS OF SOUTHERN FLORIDA AND FLORIDA PANHANDLE

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Wilson H. Carroll (MB Notes)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

On December 5, 2005 Weight Watchers¹ discovered that its bookkeeper, Dianne Belk, had embezzled over \$921,000.00. Over the course of the next two years the company gathered more information regarding her *modus operandi*, leading to the discovery that Rainbow Casino had facilitated her criminal activity through money laundering – i.e., by providing her with tax documents (Form W2-G) suggesting that she had won the stolen funds by gambling at Rainbow. The W2-G forms were false.

Weight Watchers filed suit on January 9, 2009, less than three years after it discovered Rainbow's wrongful conduct. Nevertheless, Rainbow filed its motion for summary judgment on two grounds – expiration of the statute of limitations and holder in due course. The Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Honorable Tomie Green, concluded Weight

¹ WW, Inc. and BJM, Inc. are affiliated companies which operate Weight Watchers franchises in Mississippi, Southern Alabama and the Florida Panhandle. They are jointly referenced herein as "Weight Watchers."

Watchers' lawsuit was barred by Mississippi's three-year statute of limitations and granted Rainbow's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The issues on appeal are:

- 1. Does the three-year statute of limitation set forth in Article 3 of the UCC (Miss. Code Ann. §75-3-118) bar Weight Watchers' lawsuit against Rainbow Casino and its general partner, Bally Technologies, Inc.?
- 2. Was the three-year statute of limitations tolled by Mississippi's fraudulent concealment statute (Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-67)?
- 3. Did the "continuing tort" doctrine toll the statute of limitations for wrongful acts occurring beyond the statute of limitations period, when those acts were part of a continuing and repeated injury such as those in this case?
- 4. Was summary judgment granted prematurely in light of Rainbow's failure to cooperate in discovery (as demonstrated by Weight Watchers' pending Motion to Compel)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Between January 1, 2000 and December 5, 2005, Dianne Belk embezzled over \$921,000.00 from Weight Watchers. Her *modus operandi* was to write bogus checks on the companies' accounts to herself, then record the checks in the company ledgers as payments to legitimate vendors. She cashed hundreds of these bogus checks at one place -- Rainbow Casino in Vicksburg, Mississippi.² Later, she would remove these checks from the bank statements and destroy them, so her employer would not see them.

Dianne Belk was close personal friends with two key members of Rainbow's management, one the Executive V.I.P. Host (Dottie Smith) and the other the Assistant General Manager and Director of Finance (Vivian Piskovitz).³ These two Rainbow employees collaborated with Dianne to make sure she cashed as many stolen checks at Rainbow as possible. Rainbow profited handsomely from the arrangement, and Dottie Smith actually received a portion of the stolen funds from Dianne Belk. R. 129-30.

Even though Rainbow had ample reason to suspect something was wrong with the checks, it cashed every single check Mrs. Belk presented without once calling Weight Watchers to verify that the checks were legitimate. Rainbow cashed the checks under procedures reserved for payroll checks, (Supp. R. 117) despite the fact that Belk regularly presented multiple checks in a single week, and on many occasions multiple checks in a single day (R. 562). Moreover,

² Rainbow Casino is owned and operated by Rainbow Casino-Vicksburg Partnership, L.P., of which Bally Technologies, Inc. is the general partner. For simplicity's sake, Plaintiffs will refer to both of these entities herein collectively as "Rainbow" or "Rainbow Casino."

³ Ms. Piskovitz has since been promoted to the position of General Manager. Dottie Smith was fired by Rainbow for spurious reasons approximately ten days after this lawsuit was filed, after over ten years of loyal employment.

⁴ Rainbow's Motion for Summary Judgment was supported by the affidavit of Vivian Piskovitz, falsely denying that Diane Belk ever cashed more than one check in a 24-hour period. Plaintiffs refuted this

Rainbow affirmatively facilitated Mrs. Belk's criminal activity by issuing tax documents (W2-G's) suggesting she won the stolen money at the casino – money laundering in its purest and simplest form. R. 494-495.

Under federal law casinos have an affirmative obligation to detect and prevent money laundering. Specifically, the Federal Bank Secrecy Act imposes special rules on casinos, requiring them to implement strict anti-money-laundering compliance programs. *See* 31 C.F.R. §103.64 (R. 57, 64-65). At a minimum, this compliance program must include:

- (i) A system of internal controls to assure ongoing compliance;
- (ii) Internal and/or external independent testing for compliance;
- (iii) Training of casino personnel including training in the identification of unusual or suspicious activities;
- (iv) A designated individual or individuals to assure day-to-day compliance;
- (v) Procedures for using all available information to determine . . . [t]he occurrence of any transactions required to be reported
- (vi) For casinos that have automated data processing systems, the use of automated programs to aid in assuring compliance.

31 C.F.R. §103.64. After the events giving rise to this lawsuit, the Internal Revenue Service conducted an audit of Rainbow's anti-money laundering programs and determined that Rainbow was guilty of *eight* different violations of these regulations. R. 212-216.

Weight Watchers produced the affidavit of a casino industry expert addressing the implications of Rainbow's failure to comply with federal anti-money laundering regulations and failure to meet minimum industry standards in this regard. R. 559-561. This expert noted that,

falsehood in their Supplemental Response to Motion for Summary Judgment by attaching copies of multiple checks cashed on single days and calendars reflecting the frequency of this practice. R. 562-581

An embezzler seeking to create the appearance that stolen money was obtained legally could do so by cashing stolen checks at the casino, gambling on the premises, and then obtaining payment from the casino which would then be categorized as "gaming win" for income tax purposes. Because this would constitute money laundering, casinos have an affirmative duty to take reasonable steps to detect and prevent such activity.

R. 559. The expert noted numerous circumstances which should have triggered suspicion on Rainbow's part, including (1) the fact that Dianne Belk was cashing "payroll checks" at irregular intervals, (2) the fact that Dianne Belk was cashing "payroll checks" in inconsistent amounts, and (3) the total value of "payroll checks" cashed by Dianne Belk greatly exceeded her reasonable compensation as a bookkeeper. R. 560. He noted that Rainbow's Internal Controls never required the casino to take the simple, rudimentary step of contacting either the bank or the employer to confirm a check's authenticity, "no matter what degree of suspicious circumstances might exist." R. 560. He concluded that Rainbow's failure to either call the bank or call Weight Watchers directly, under the circumstances listed above, "did not meet minimum casino industry standards for check cashing and prevention of money laundering." R. 561.

Rainbow profited handsomely from the arrangement, though. Mrs. Belk was a gambling addict and, according to her testimony as well as Rainbow's own player tracking reports, she ultimately lost the vast majority of the stolen money gambling at Rainbow. R. 450.

Weight Watchers discovered Mrs. Belk's embezzlement on December 5, 2005, during an audit of the company books by an independent auditor. The auditors reviewed copies of the forged checks and determined that Mrs. Belk had cashed many of them at Rainbow, as well as at Trustmark National Bank and other places. R. 545. There was nothing on the face of the checks

⁵ A review of the checks cashed by Dianne Belk at Rainbow reveals multiple occasions where Mrs. Belk actually cashed multiple "payroll checks" at Rainbow in a single day. R. 562.

which might lead Weight Watchers, or any reasonable person, to suspect any further involvement by Rainbow.

The process by which Weight Watchers discovered Rainbow's wrongdoing took place over an extended period of time. Nearly five weeks after Weight Watchers discovered Mrs. Belk's embezzlement (at the very earliest on January 13, 2006, within the three year statute of limitations) she provided them with copies of her federal income tax returns for only a few of the years during which the embezzlement occurred. R. 223-259. According to her deposition testimony, Mrs. Belk filed her final tax return incorporating the bogus W2-G's in late 2006, but she never provided Weight Watchers with a copy of this return. R. 496. The returns did not include copies of W2's, W2-G's or any other supporting documents, and only included vague references to "gambling losses" and "Form W2-G" (R. 225, 228, 231, 236, 240, 243, 252). There was only a single vague reference to winning \$1,000.00 at Rainbow in 2003. R. 252.

Although none of the documents available to Weight Watchers in December 2005 or early January 2006 suggested a direct link between Rainbow and Dianne Belk's wrongful acts, one of Dianne Belk's co-employees (Patricia Honeycutt) was aware of Dianne's close relationship with a key Rainbow employee, Executive V.I.P. Host Dottie Smith. This employee personally witnessed Dottie and Dianne interacting at parties and other social events, including trips to Rainbow where Dottie introduced her to Dianne. This information suggested, at best, a claim against Rainbow based on its vicarious liability for the wrongful acts of its employee. Weight Watchers had no idea at all of Rainbow's role in laundering the stolen funds, or of Dianne Belk's relationship to Rainbow's Assistant General Manager and Director of Finance, until Mrs. Belk testified about this relationship during her deposition.

Weight Watchers filed its lawsuit in Hinds County Circuit Court against Dianne Belk, her husband (who received a portion of the stolen funds), Rainbow Casino-Vicksburg Partnership,

L.P. and Bally Technologies, Inc. on January 9, 2009. The Complaint alleged, *inter alia*, that the Defendants colluded to defraud Weight Watchers and misappropriate funds belonging to them; were unjustly enriched at Weight Watchers' expense; and committed negligence and/or gross negligence. R. 7-8.

Throughout the course of the litigation Rainbow refused to produce relevant documents and refused to allow the deposition of a crucial witness. Weight Watchers propounded multiple sets of interrogatories and requests for production to Rainbow seeking, among other things, copies of all of the W2-G's issued by Rainbow to Dianne Belk (R. 296-302), documents which would demonstrate Rainbow's failure to comply with federal anti-money laundering laws (R. 332-334) and documents which would demonstrate Rainbow's knowledge of similar criminal activity on its premises (R. 344-347). Weight Watchers also sought to depose Vivian Piskovitz, who was Dianne Belk's close personal friend and is clearly the most knowledgeable person with regard to Rainbow's compliance, or lack thereof, with federal anti-money laundering laws. (R. 360-361). Rainbow steadfastly refused to provide any of the documents requested and refused to allow Weight Watchers to depose Ms. Piskovitz, despite the fact that Weight Watchers noticed her deposition and no protective order was ever obtained. Consequently, on September 25, 2009, Weight Watchers filed its motion to compel. R. 282-368.

Rainbow's refusal to allow the deposition of Vivian Piskovitz deprived Weight Watchers of the opportunity to obtain crucial testimony directly relevant to the issues of discovery and tolling. At a very minimum a deposition could have established the falsehood of key statements in her affidavit. For example, she stated in her affidavit that "Dianne Belk never cashed more than one check in a 24 hour period," (Supp. R. 117) but an examination of Mrs. Belk's check-cashing history proves this is flatly untrue. (R. 562-580). Mrs. Piskovitz stated in her affidavit that "Rainbow handled the embezzled Weight Watchers checks in the same manner it handles all

employer-issued checks," (Supp. R. 117), but fails to identify any part of Rainbow's Internal Controls which would have authorized the cashing of multiple payroll checks from a single individual in a single day. Most important, Mrs. Piskovitz utterly failed to address Rainbow's practice of facilitating money-laundering through the issuance of bogus tax documents to embezzlers like Dianne Belk.

On August 18, 2009, Rainbow filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, seeking dismissal of Weight Watchers' lawsuit on two grounds, (1) expiration of the three-year statute of limitations, and (2) Rainbow's status as a "holder in due course" under Mississippi's version of the U.C.C. R. 50-52.⁶ Weight Watchers filed its Response on September 14, 2009, and then, after deposing Dianne Belk in prison and obtaining the affidavit of an expert in casino cage management and financial controls, filed a Supplemental Response on December 10, 2009.

On January 26, 2010, the Circuit Court of Hinds County issued its Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Judgment of Dismissal. R. 586-592. The Trial Court ignored Weight Watchers' pending Motion to Compel and based its decision entirely on the three-year statute of limitations set forth under Miss. Code Ann. §75-3-118, holding specifically that "there is no applicable discovery rule or continuing tort doctrine" which would toll the statute. R. 590. The Trial Court reached a factual conclusion properly reserved for the jury, declaring "we do not find that [Weight Watchers] proved that the Rainbow Defendants engaged in some act or conduct of an affirmative nature designed to prevent and did prevent [sic] discovery of Weight Watchers' claim . . ." Finally, the Trial Court held that Weight Watchers' "arguments that Defendant Rainbow was involved in 'money laundering' with Dianne Belk, and

⁶ The Trial Court's Order did not address Rainbow's holder-in-due-course argument, although both sides fully briefed the issue.

that 'money laundering' was, by definition, fraudulent concealment, has no merit in fact or under Mississippi law." R. 591.

Weight Watchers timely appealed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The "discovery rule" tolled the statute of limitations in this case, which clearly involves both a latent injury (Weight Watchers was precluded from discovering the harm because of the secretive nature of the wrongdoing in question) and allegations of negligence and gross negligence on the part of Rainbow Casino. The Circuit Court was manifestly wrong in concluding otherwise. The fact that Weight Watchers discovered Dianne Belk's wrongdoing at an earlier date did not trigger the statute of limitations on Rainbow's wrongful acts, which were only discovered later.

The statute of limitations was also tolled by Mississippi's fraudulent concealment statute (Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-67), which requires "some act or conduct of an affirmative nature designed to prevent and which does prevent discovery of the claim." *Stephens v. Equitable Life Assurance Society*, 850 So.2d 78, 83-84 (Miss. 2003). The affirmative acts undertaken by Dianne Belk and Rainbow Casino to prevent discovery of their wrongful acts occurred at three distinct stages; (1) the embezzlement and concomitant "cooking of the books" by Dianne Belk, (2) the issuance of fraudulent tax documents by Rainbow Casino falsely suggesting that Dianne Belk won the stolen funds on its premises, and (3) the filing of fraudulent federal income tax returns incorporating the bogus Rainbow W2-G's. Rainbow Casino and Dianne Belk were clearly in privity, and each one of these stages constituted an "affirmative act of concealment" sufficient to trigger the tolling provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-67.

To the extent many of the bogus checks were written long before the Defendants' embezzlement and money laundering scheme was uncovered, the "continuing tort" doctrine acts

to toll the statute of limitations for those earlier wrongful acts. At a minimum, there are conflicting arguments about when Weight Watchers should have discovered their injury, leaving that factual question open for trial.

Additionally, summary judgment was premature due to Rainbow's failure to cooperate in discovery. The Circuit Court expressly incorporated factual findings (such as its determination that Rainbow engaged in "no act or conduct of an affirmative nature designed to prevent . . . discovery of Weight Watchers' claim") which could have been refuted through additional discovery. In fact, this need for additional discovery was precisely at issue in Weight Watchers' pending Motion to Compel, which the Circuit Court simply ignored.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISCOVERY RULE OPERATES TO TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AGAINST RAINBOW CASINO.

The "discovery rule" operates to toll the statute of limitations until "a plaintiff should have reasonably known of some negligent conduct, even if the plaintiff does not know with absolute certainty that the conduct was legally negligent." *Peavey Electronics Corp. v. Baan U.S.A., Inc.* 10 So.3d 945, 950 (Miss.App. 2009), citing *Boyles v. Schlumberger Tech. Corp.*, 832 So.2d 503, 506 (Miss. 2002); *Sarris v. Smith*, 782 So.2d 721, 725 (Miss. 2001). The statute of limitations begins to run "when the [plaintiff] can reasonably be held to have knowledge of the injury itself, the cause of the injury, and the causative relationship between the injury and the conduct of the [defendant]." *Sarris*, 782 So.2d at 723 (quoting *Smith v. Sanders*, 485 So.2d 1051, 1052 (Miss. 1986)).

The discovery rule's application has been greatly expanded over time. See Barnes v. Singing River Hosp. Sys., 733 So.2d 199 (Miss.1999) (Mississippi Tort Claims Act); Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin, 586 So.2d 823 (Miss.1991) (workers compensation); Staheli v. Smith, 548 So.2d 1299 (Miss.1989) (defamation). "At issue in all cases however, is when the plaintiff

discovers their injury or disease." Sweeney v. Preston, 642 So.2d 332, 334 (Miss.1994). In making this determination the Sweeney Court noted,

[K]nowledge that there exists a causal relationship between the negligent act and the injury or disease complained of *is essential* because it is well-established that prescription does not run against one who has neither actual nor constructive notice of the facts that would entitle him to bring an action.

Id. (emphasis added). Whether the plaintiff knew about the injury has typically been reserved as a jury question. Barnes, 733 So.2d at 205; Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. Edwards, 573 So.2d 704, 709 (Miss. 1990); PPG Architectural Finishes, Inc. v. Lowery, 909 So.2d 47, 50 (Miss. 2005).

Weight Watchers discovered that Dianne Belk had been embezzling funds on December 5, 2005, when it retained an independent auditor to review its books. It discovered that Mrs. Belk had written hundreds of checks to herself on the company bank accounts and then made fraudulent entries in the company ledgers reflecting payments to legitimate vendors. When the monthly statements were received from the bank, Mrs. Belk would remove the copies of the fraudulent checks which she wrote to herself and proceed to "balance" the books.

Once the scheme was uncovered Weight Watchers obtained additional copies of the fraudulent checks from their bank. By reviewing these copies it learned that Mrs. Belk had been cashing them at numerous places, including both Trustmark Bank and Rainbow Casino. However, that is all it could determine at that point in time from a review of the checks. Weight Watchers had absolutely no way of knowing anything more about Rainbow's involvement in facilitating Mrs. Belk's criminal activities. As far as Weight Watchers could tell from a review of the checks, Rainbow did nothing more than Trustmark Bank, i.e., it provided Mrs. Belk with the requisite funds after she properly identified herself. There was absolutely nothing on the face of the checks which could provide Weight Watchers with knowledge of any causal relationship between any negligent or wrongful act of Rainbow and the injury which they had sustained.

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