IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00361

WW, INC. d/b/a WEIGHT WATCHERS OF GREATER MISSISSIPPI and BJM, INC. d/b/a WEIGHT WATCHERS OF SOUTHERN ALABAMA AND FLORIDA PANHANDLE Appellants

VERSUS

RAINBOW CASINO-VICKSBURG PARTNERSHIP, L.P. and BALLY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, IN CIVIL ACTION NO. 251-09-46 CIV

BRIEF OF APPELLEES RAINBOW CASINO-VICKSBURG PARTNERSHIP, L.P. AND BALLY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

William L. Smith (MSB Quin H. Breland, IV (MSF BALCH & BINGHAM, LLP 401 East Capitol Street Suite 200 Jackson, MS 39201 Telephone: (601) 961-9900 Facsimile: (601) 961-4466

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Weight Watchers discovered its injury – the conversion of funds by Dianne Belk – in December 2005, but did not file suit against either Rainbow or Belk herself until January 2009. Those facts are undisputed. While Weight Watchers claims that the statute of limitations should be tolled until it discovered the *cause* of its injury, the statute of limitations actually begins to run upon discovery of the *injury* itself – not discovery of the *cause* of the injury. *Angle v. Koppers, Inc.*, 42 So. 3d 1, 2 (Miss. 2010). Therefore, Weight Watchers' claims are facially time-barred by Mississippi's three-year statute of limitations.

Further, the statute of limitations was not tolled by the discovery rule or the continuing tort doctrine. The discovery rule does not apply to claims of conversion of negotiable instruments, which is the only claim Weight Watchers can state. *Smith v. Franklin Custodian Funds, Inc.*, 726 So. 2d 144, 148 (Miss. 1998). Each time Belk cashed an unauthorized check at Rainbow Casino, the funds were drawn on Weight Watchers' bank accounts. The act of conversion was complete each time the funds were taken out of those accounts. For the same reasons, the continuing tort doctrine does not toll the statute of limitations. *Smith*, 726 So. 2d at 148-49. The funds were gone from Weight Watchers' bank accounts each time the embezzled checks were cashed.

Rainbow did nothing to fraudulently conceal Belk's embezzlement. Had Weight Watchers checked on its bank accounts at any point during the nearly six- year period of Belk's embezzlement, it would have easily noticed that unauthorized checks were being cashed at Rainbow Casino. However, it failed to take even the most basic steps of diligence that would have alerted it to Belk's theft. It did not even file suit against Belk to recover the stolen funds within the three year period provided by the statute of limitations. Therefore, Weight Watchers cannot claim that Rainbow fraudulently concealed a cause of action from it. It is undisputed that

11

Rainbow did nothing to hide its cashing of Belk's checks and did nothing to hide that the funds were drawn on Weight Watchers' bank accounts. Without proof of an affirmative act of concealment by Rainbow and proof that Weight Watchers used reasonable diligence to discover Belk's conversion of funds, the fraudulent concealment statute cannot toll the statute of limitations. The period for filing suit on checks cashed in 2000 expired in 2003. Similarly, the period for filing suit on checks cashed in 2005 expired in 2008. All of which are well outside the three-year limitations period.

The simple fact is that Weight Watchers waited too long to pursue its claims. Even if its conspiracy theory were true, which Rainbow denies, Weight Watchers still filed suit over three years after Belk cashed her final embezzled check at Rainbow and over three years after Weight Watchers discovered that she was doing so. It could have discovered Belk's embezzlement at any time through an audit or a simple phone call to its bank, but did not have any financial controls in place and conducted no due diligence that would have alerted it to Belk's acitivties. Rainbow certainly did nothing to conceal Belk's embezzlement from Weight Watchers. Therefore, the trial court properly ruled that Weight Watchers' claims were time-barred, and its judgment should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

£.

Summary judgment is appropriate where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Garlock Sealing Techs., LLC v. Pittman*, 2010 Miss. LEXIS 539 (Miss. Oct. 14, 2010) (citing Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c)). Moreover, summary judgment "is appropriate when the non-moving party has failed to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an

12

element essential to the party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." Buckel v. Chaney, 2010 Miss. LEXIS 578 (Miss. Nov. 4, 2010) (quoting Watson Quality Ford, Inc. v. Casanova, 999 So. 2d 830, 832 (Miss. 2008)). The moving party "bears the burden of persuading the trial judge that: (1) no genuine issue of material fact exists, and (2) on the basis of the facts established, he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Angle, 42 So. 3d at 4 (quoting Palmer v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc., 564 So. 2d 1346, 1355 (Miss. 1990)). "[T]he nonmoving party cannot survive a motion for summary judgment by relying on a mere allegation or denial of material fact." Id. (quoting Palmer, 564 So. 2d at 1356). In other words, "the plaintiff may not rely solely upon unsworn allegations in the pleadings, or arguments and assertions in briefs or legal memoranda." Id.

II. The Discovery Rule Does Not Apply To Conversion Claims, and the Statute of Limitations Begins to Run on Discovery of the Injury.

As Weight Watchers admits, it is undisputed that it filed suit more than three years after Belk's embezzlement was discovered.⁶² Nevertheless, Weight Watchers' first argument is that the statute of limitations was tolled by the discovery rule.⁶³ However, the discovery rule does not apply to conversion claims, and, even if it did, Weight Watchers' "injury" occurred the moment each embezzled check was cashed and the funds were taken from their bank accounts. Therefore, as Weight Watchers filed suit more than three years after the last embezzled check was cashed at Rainbow Casino, summary judgment was properly granted. They simply waited too long to file suit.

⁶² See, e.g., Brief of Appellants, p. 6 ("Weight Watchers discovered Mrs. Belk's embezzlement on December 5, 2005, during an audit of the company books by an independent auditor.").

⁶³ Brief of Appellants, p. 11.

A. <u>The Discovery Rule Does Not Apply to Claims Involving Conversion of</u> <u>Negotiable Instruments.</u>

As the trial court stated, "[t]here is no disagreement among the parties that the Statute of Limitations governing this action is three (3) years, under Mississippi law."⁶⁴ Article 3 of Mississippi's adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code sets forth the applicable statute of limitations for the conversion of a negotiable instrument.

(g) Unless governed by other law regarding claims for indemnity or contribution, an action (i) for conversion of an instrument, for money had and received, or like action based on conversion, (ii) for breach of warranty, or (iii) to enforce an obligation, duty, or right arising under this chapter and not governed by this section must be commenced within three (3) years after the cause of action accrues.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 75-3-118. Weight Watchers sued Rainbow for conversion of negotiable instruments.⁶⁵ Therefore, the UCC's three-year statute of limitations applies, although the standard is equally applicable under Mississippi's catch-all statute of limitations, MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-49. *See Rankin v. Am. Gen. Fin., Inc.*, 912 So. 2d 725 (Miss. 2005) (claims of breach of fiduciary duty, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, negligent misrepresentation, fraudulent misrepresentation, and negligence are subject to a three-year statute of limitations pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49).

The discovery rule does not apply to actions involving conversion of negotiable instruments. *See Smith*, 726 So. 2d at 148 ("We therefore hold that the discovery rule is inapplicable in actions involving conversion of negotiable instruments unless the defendant

⁶⁴ R. 589.

⁶⁵ The only injury that Weight Watchers can point to is the conversion of funds by Dianne Belk by cashing checks at Rainbow Casino. Therefore, regardless of what terms Weight Watchers uses, "the Code governs here over common law forms of action. Once the checks were presented [] for deposit, the 'rights and responsibilities of the parties are determined by reference to the Mississippi Uniform Commercial Code.'" *Hancock Bank v. Ensenat*, 819 So. 2d 3, 9 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); *see also Gallagher v. Santa Fe Federal Employees Federal Credit Union*, 52 P.3d 412 (N.M. Ct. App. 2002) (holding that the UCC's statute of limitations applicable to conversion claims also applied to claims for negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, money had and received, and in implied contract).

asserting the statute of limitations is involved in the fraudulent concealment."). That conclusion is logical – an owner is charged with knowledge of his property, and, by its nature, converting funds means that the funds are gone from the owner's account. *See Yarbro, Ltd. v. Missoula Federal Credit Union*, 50 P.3d 158, 162 (Mont. 2002) ("Two reasons often cited for rejecting the application of the discovery doctrine in conversion cases are the need for finality in transactions involving negotiable instruments, and the presumption that a property owner knows what and where his property is."). While the application of the rule may seem harsh, the responsibility for keeping track of accounts lies with the owner of that property, not a third party.

Further, the public would be poorly served by a rule that effectively shifts the responsibility for careful bookkeeping and employee supervision away from those in the best position to monitor accounts and employees [i.e., the employer]. The strict application of the three-year statute of limitations, while predictably harsh in some cases, best serves the goals advanced by the Uniform Commercial Code.

Id. at 163 (emphasis added). See also New Jersey Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection v. Pace, 863 A.2d 402, 407 (N.J. Super. 2005) (quoting same language without citation).

Despite the existence of controlling authority to the contrary,⁶⁶ Weight Watchers devotes approximately four pages of its brief to the argument that the discovery rule does apply to its claims.⁶⁷ However, in doing so, it ignores the basic, undisputed facts of this case. In its Complaint, Weight Watchers alleged claims of fraud and misappropriation, unjust enrichment, conversion, and negligence against Rainbow,⁶⁸ but the only injury that Weight Watchers can actually point to is the *conversion of funds* by Dianne Belk by cashing checks at Rainbow Casino. As the trial court stated,

Under Mississippi law, when Belk endorsed and cashed each embezzled check at Rainbow Casino and Rainbow deposited the checks drawn on Weight Watchers'

⁶⁶ Smith, 726 So. 2d at 148.

⁶⁷ Brief of Appellants, pp. 11-14 and Argument Heading I.

⁶⁸ Complaint, R. 4-9.

accounts, the alleged tort was complete. The funds were gone from Weight Watchers' bank account.⁶⁹

Therefore, regardless of the name given to Weight Watchers' injury, the injury is properly deemed to be conversion.

Weight Watchers goes to great lengths to attempt to show that Rainbow helped Belk "launder" the stolen money, but not only is there no evidence of such, Weight Watchers *was not harmed* by any alleged "money laundering." The only *harm* or *injury* claimed by Weight Watchers is the fact that it no longer has funds stolen by Dianne Belk and cashed in the form of checks at Rainbow Casino. Therefore, regardless of what terms Weight Watchers uses, the only claim Weight Watchers can even begin to state against Rainbow is for conversion of negotiable instruments. *See Hancock Bank*, 819 So. 2d at 8 (holding that breach of contract, bad faith breach of contract, negligence, gross negligence and reckless disregard claims were properly treated as conversion claims, despite plaintiff's arguments to the contrary). And because the Mississippi Supreme Court has explicitly held that there is no discovery rule for claims involving the conversion of negotiable instruments, Weight Watchers' claims are time-barred because they filed suit over three years after discovering Belk's embezzlement.⁷⁰ *Smith*, 726 So. 2d at 148.

B. <u>The Statute of Limitations Begins to Run Upon Discovery of the Injury, not</u> <u>Discovery of its Cause.</u>

Not only does Weight Watchers ignore *Smith*, it also makes the argument that it had no way of knowing that it was injured by Rainbow, and therefore the statute of limitations should be tolled until it discovered the *cause* of its injury.⁷¹ That position is contrary to the law. A recent Mississippi Supreme Court decision confirms that the statute of limitations begins to run on discovery of the *injury* itself – not discovery of the *cause* of the injury. In *Angle*, a toxic tort

⁶⁹ R. 590.

⁷⁰ See, e.g., Brief of Appellants, p. 12 ("Weight Watchers discovered that Dianne Belk had been embezzling funds on December 5, 2005, when it retained an independent auditor to review its books.")

case, the plaintiff filed suit over three years after her injury was discovered, but argued that her claims were not time-barred because the statute of limitations did not run until she discovered the cause of her injury. 42 So. 3d at 2. The defendants moved for summary judgment, arguing that all of the plaintiff's illnesses were diagnosed no later than 2001, approximately five years before she filed her complaint. *Id.* at 3. The Supreme Court agreed, holding that the statute of limitations begins to run when the injury is discovered.

We find that the plain language of the statute supports Defendants' argument that the cause of action accrued upon discovery of the injury, *not discovery of the injury and its cause*. While not always a model of consistency, our caselaw supports this plain reading of the statute.

Id. at 5 (emphasis in original). In an analogous case, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals also held that the statute of limitations focuses on discovery of an injury, not discovery of its cause. *See Barnes ex rel. Barnes v. Koppers, Inc.*, 534 F. 3d 357, 360 (5th Cir. 2008).

Therefore, even if the discovery rule did apply to Weight Watchers' claims, it is of no help. Weight Watchers' injury – the funds being stolen from them – was discovered by December 2005 at the latest, and suit was not filed until January 2009.⁷² In fact, Weight Watchers had every opportunity to discover the embezzlement prior to December 2005, but made the conscious decision to control costs and forgo audits or bank account reconciliations.⁷³ They did, however, discover the embezzlement in December 2005, and discovered that Belk had been cashing checks at Rainbow Casino in December 2005.⁷⁴ The fact that Weight Watchers waited three years to file suit against Dianne Belk herself offers further proof that Weight Watchers failed to timely pursue its claims. It had knowledge of the loss itself and knowledge of

1

⁷⁴ Supp. R. 114 ("Q: You knew that Dianne was cashing -- cashing or converting into play, embezzled checks at Rainbow Casino in December 2005, correct? A: Yes.").

⁷¹ *Id.* (emphasis added).

⁷² R. 587-88.

⁷³ Supp. R. 54-55, 64, 103.

the cause of the loss. Applying the law to these facts, it is clear that the statute of limitations period has run and Weight Watchers is time-barred from pursuing its claims. *See Mitchell v. Progressive Ins. Co.*, 965 So. 2d 679, 683 (Miss. 2007) ("The primary purpose of statutory time limitations is to compel the exercise of a right of action within a reasonable time...[t]hese statutes are founded upon the general experience of society that valid claims will be promptly pursued and not allowed to remain neglected.").

Weight Watchers claims that it "had no knowledge, and absolutely no way of knowing through the exercise of reasonable diligence, about the causative relationship between the injury and the conduct of Rainbow."⁷⁵ But Weight Watchers misstates the law. "The focus is on the time that the [party] discovers, or should have discovered by the exercise of reasonable diligence, *that he probably has an actionable injury." Peavey Elecs. Corp. v. Baan U.S.A., Inc.*, 10 So. 3d 945, 951 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *Wayne Gen. Hosp. v. Hayes*, 868 So. 2d 997, 1001 (Miss. 2004)) (emphasis added). The actionable injury was the theft of funds, and that injury occurred over three years prior to suit being filed. *See Angle*, 42 So. 3d at 7 ("No provision of Section 15-1-49 provides that a plaintiff must have knowledge of the cause of the injury before the cause of action accrues, initiating the running of the statute of limitations.").

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